IDENTIFY LUISS SCHOOL OF GOVERNMENT

Working Paper Series

BRUEGEL, EU THINK TANK IN THE EU MULTI-LEVEL GOVERNANCE

SOG-WP35/2016

ISSN: 2282-4189

Rosetta Collura

This text may be reproduced only for personal research purposes. Additional reproduction for other purposes, whether in hard copies or electronically, requires the consent of the author(s), editor(s).

If cited or quoted, references should be made to the full name of the author(s), editor(s), the title, the working paper, or the other series, the year and the publisher.

© 2016 Rosetta Collura Printed in Italy, October 2016 LUISS School of Government Via di Villa Emiliani, 14 00197 Rome ITALY email: <u>sog@luiss.it</u> web: <u>www.sog.luiss.it</u>





Jean Monnet Centre of Excellence on Centrifugal Europe and the Challenge of Integration

(Contract n. 574597-EPP-1-2016-1-IT-EPPJMO-CoE)

ABSTRACT

This working paper aims to analyze the repertoire of actions of Bruegel, EU think tanks involved in a multi-level governance. As key case, the analysis of Bruegel allows us to go back to the historical and conceptual development of think tanks in the European Union. Considered as knowledge agents, we will focus on the way that think tanks mobilize "knowledge" or scientific facts to have influence on the public debate.

Keywords: think tank, multi-level governance, repertoire of actions, European Union

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Rosetta Collura is teaching and research assistant at Université Catholique de Louvain. PhD student in political sciences, she focus her researches on development and strategies to influence of think tanks in the European Union, in the framework of the European Banking Union.

Contact Information: rosetta.collura@uclouvain-mons.be

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
1. Think tank and the EU Policy Environment	2
2. Think tanks, agents of knowledge	4
3. EU Brussels-based think tanks	5
3.1 Development of think tanks in Europe	7
3.2 Classifying think tanks	
3.3 European typology	
4. Bruegel	
4.1 Funding sources	
4.2 Organization	
4.3 Production/researches	
5. Competing in the marketplace of ideas in a EU multilevel governance	14
5.1 Public influence.	14
5.2 Private influence	
CONCLUSION	19
BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Far from being "catch-all" concept, *governance* refers to a mode of decision-making process, partly including non-state actors. Considered as a unique governance mix (Börzel, 2012: 12), the EU has been the object of many theoretical attempts that have been developed in order to conceptualize the European polity. Without entering the debate, this working paper will give advantage on the multi-level nature of the EU. Within one of the main characteristic of the EU governance, this working paper will focus on a policy network analysis which refers to the role of non-state actors in shaping policy outputs. Therefore this working paper will essentially refers essentially to the capacity of non-state actors to influence the policy outcomes during the decision-making process.

According to the Transparency Register¹ (Europa.eu, 2015) of the European Parliament and European Commission, 413 think tanks and research institutions are present in the European Union (EU). This represents 5.1% of all groups represented in the EU. Despite their low number, various scholars (Sherrington, 2000; Ullrich, 2004) have recognized the active role of think tanks within the EU decision-making process. Think tanks acting at the European level are indeed active in various policy areas subject to EU competence.

While much of the European literature focus on "national" think tanks (focusing on domestic and/or foreign/European issues), it takes less into consideration EU think tanks, i.e. Brussels-based think tanks that oriented their researches on the European Union as central object. However those EU think tanks are increasingly taken into account – in the practice – by both European and national (non-)state actors. This double inclusion may be partly explained by the multi-level character of the European governance.

In the framework of this EU multilevel governance, it is relevant to think about the way how "European public policies" objects are build. The choice of analysis tool is indeed closely linked to the way the object is built. Therefore, as underlined by Hassenteufel and Surel (2000), how to build the "European public policies" object may be based on the idea according to which the analysis focus on the EU as key player in matters of public policies. Therefore the analysis will focus on institutions and various actors who are part of EU policies production.

In this perspective, the analysis will focus on EU think tanks, considered (by Stone (2012)) as knowledge agents. The development of those actors are, according to Sherrington (2000 : 173), « a consequence of increased policy activity at the EU level, the growth in think tanks may also have arisen out of EU institutional and national administrative needs for greater policy advocacy ». Therefore this paper will focus on EU think tanks activities in a multi-level governance. The purpose of this paper is to provide an initial examination of the extent to which EU think tanks can contribute to EU policy formulation.

¹ In the interest of transparency of the European decision-making process, the European Commission created (in 2008) a register which takes a census of all « groups and organizations with which they [European Commission and European Parliament] interact » (Europa.eu, 2015).

In the framework of this paper, the analysis of EU think tanks activities in a EU multi-level governance will rely on a case study. The focus will be on the intellectual and institutional dynamics of a subset of EU think tanks, seen through the prism of their policy interventions, all long of the decision-making process. Therefore this analysis will focus on Bruegel, EU think tank. We may consider Bruegel as a *key case* which is – according to Thomas (2011) – selected due to its representativeness. The analysis of this case will be based on interviews with Bruegel's scholars/managers and documents/reports.

1. Think tank and the EU Policy Environment

As specified by Börzel (2012), the European Union is a unique governance mix. Even if various theoretical attempts have been developed in order to conceptualize the European polity, the purpose of this paper is not to examine this debate. However, as pointed out by Sherrington (2000 : 174), « a single-model is inappropriate for analysis EU policy-making - the multi-level nature of the system, the operational differences between policy sectors, and the informal as well as formal nature of policy-making necessitate theoretical flexibility ». Even if some scholars give advantage new institutionalism, multi-governance or policy network analysis, scholars widely agree that EU decision-making process cannot be summed up as a "simple" bargaining between member states, plus an important role of non-state actors in shaping policy outputs. This consensus refers essentially to the capacity of non-state actors to promote interests during the decision-making process. In this perspective, think tanks have this ability to generate and promote ideas at the EU level and to promote expertise on specific EU policies. As specified by Abelson (2009 : 4), « think tanks in both countries have at times played an important role in shaping the political dialogue and the policy preferences and choices of policymakers, but often in different ways and during different stages of the policy cycle ». Therefore it relevant to identify EU think tanks and their "repertoire of actions" (Fillieule, 2010) in order to determine their role in policy communities². Furthermore – and as specified previously - the multilevel nature of the EU decision-making process opens various access points for think tanks. As underlined by Sherrington (2000), comparatively to some national political system, the European Union may be considered as relatively open. The European Union is even considered – by Peters (1994) – as less formalized than within some member states. Therefore it is quite difficult to identify the different informal routes mobilized by think tanks in order to promote their ideas; while those mechanisms are a central part of the policy-making process. As underlined by Sherrington (2000 : 175), « think tanks have the opportunity to use a variety of informal routes, either within an EU institution, between EU institutions, within national structures, or between member state and EU institutions ».

In the Brussels-bubble, the market of ideas are closely competing with (amongst others) interest representation, considered by Hix and Hoyland (2011), highly dense at the EU level. For example, business

 $^{^{2}}$ *Policy Communities* are defined – by Coleman and Skogstad (1990) – as the set of public and private actors who are coalescing around an issue area.

interest groups (with the most financial and political resources) willingly play the Brussels game. Regarding the interest groups, the European Union looks like primitive US pluralism; which means that there is a little countervailing power in order to reduce or even halt the manipulation of the decisionmaking process by business interests groups or "owner of the capital". Given that there is no European political parties, others interest groups hardly struggle to compete with business interest groups. This vision of an European Union dominated by business interest groups (against "people of Europe") was a common criticism developed by left-wing parties scholars in the 1970s and 1980s (Holland, 1980). However « business interests do not have it all their own way » (Hix & Hoyland, 2011: 185). On the one hand, there is a focus on public interests (such as trade union or environmental issues) due to the centralization of the market regulation within the European Union. On the other hand, due to the competition between institutions, the European Commission and Parliament allow their access to underrepresented interest groups. According to Hix and Hoyland (2011 : 185), « the promotion of transnational alliances spanning both sides of a policy debate strengthens the information capacity and the credibility of these supranational actors against the Council ». Therefore the European Commission and Parliament reinforce their public support by fostering the allegiance of transnational socio-economic alliances - which overcomes national divisions.

Given that the European Commission is charged (by EU treaties) with the legislative initiative; it becomes an important stage for the agenda-setting and formulation of EU policies. As underlined by Mazey and Richardson (1995), the European Commission is specifically the marketplace for interests and ideas at the EU level. EU think tanks are facing a key audience because it is « the agent that largely designs the policy process in terms of which procedures to use, which actors to include, and how to define policy issues » (Haaland Matlary, 1997: 273). Some scholars – such as Laffan (1997) has even gone as far as considering the European Commission as a think tank (even if the European Commission already have its own internal think tank³).

Then as highlighted by Sherrington (2000 : 175), think tanks and the European Commission are in a dependence relationship. As formal initiator of EU policies, the European Commission constitutes « a natural think tank constituency ». As « adolescent bureaucracy » (Mazey & Richardson, 1993: 10), the European Commission is therefore actively in search of policy expertise.

Then the *European Parliament* becomes – over time – more important to think tanks due to the increasing legislative powers that it acquired. Nonetheless the European Parliament is less important than the European Commission in terms of ideas promotion. That is the reason why think tanks will turn to the European Commission (due to the supranational interests that it aims to promote) contrary to the members

³ Originally called *Forward* Studies [1989 – 2000], this internal think tank was directly reporting to the then President of the European Commission, Jacques Delors. The evolution of this think tank was in accordance with the development of the European Commission. Furthermore its evolution was accompanied with a change in its name. This think tank is called *European Political Strategy Centre*.

of the European Parliament who are always oriented towards the national public opinion (and national voters).

While the *European Council* could be an important place for think tanks (due to its decisive position on the European scene), the Council – and its administration – are rarely lobbied by think tanks (and interest groups). « For the most, access to the EU Council occurs through national groups via the national ministries rather than directly to the collective decision-making body of the EU » (Eising, 2008: 13). Therefore the Council is rarely impact by think tanks actions and influence.

The *European Court of Justice* – as European judiciary - « monitors compliance with and interprets EU law » (Eising, 2008: 13). The European Court of Justice constitutes mainly an interesting channel for interest groups which play with the interpretation of an European legislative act in order to invalidate it (preliminary rulings procedure). However given the uncertainty of the outcome, the heavy financial costs and the lengthy period of the case, interest groups rarely takes a case to the European Court. Consequently, litigation strategies are rarely used by interest groups. This strategy is mobilized if the stakes are high for the group.

The *Economic and Social Committee* has been setting up in order to collect opinions of non-state actors. However due to its consultative role within the European decision-making process, non-state actors assign marginal importance to the institution.

2. Think tanks, agents of knowledge

As Börzel (2012) argued, the European decision-making process takes place in a complex, diversified and dynamic environment. This environment includes various national and European public actors who are increasingly dependent on the resources of non-state actors. Therefore she proceeds to assert that « policy networks provide a most efficient form of governance at the European as well as the national level ». She justified her assumption by claiming the inefficiency of the hierarchical coordination; and the limited possibilities of privatization due to the problem of market failure. In this perspective, governance involved non-state actors who have limited resources. Therefore no actors may have the leadership in terms of resources. Therefore the understanding of this resources dependence within the governance process, the focus will be laid on the power dependence approach.

Following this conceptual approach, *policy networks* are defined as « sets of resources-dependent organizations» (Rhodes, 2006: 431). One of the main feature of those relationships (between organizations) is power dependence. Rhodes (2006) underlines the inextricable relationship between organizations which is mainly due to the need of (additional) resources of organizations in order to reach their goal(s). There is a need – for each organization – to exchange their resources. From that moment on, each organization considers each relationship as a 'game' – with its own rules . Each organization deploy its own resources to maximize its influence on outcomes whilst avoiding being dependent on others players. So according to Rhodes (1997), the *policy network* is like a game which is regulated by rules. Each

rules have been negotiated and agreed by all players. Therefore there are various variations or differences between networks due to the specific distribution of resources in each network. Finally, Rhodes also specifies that « networks have a significant degree of autonomy from government ».

Considered as knowledge producer, think tanks are mobilizing knowledge as resource of power dependence. Knowledge, as such it, does not exist. As specified by Callon and Latour (1991 : 8), scientific facts result from construction : « nature is not speaking on his behalf ». Those two sociologists underlined that science « could not be reduced to a mere record of results provided by experiments ». However even if knowledge constitutes a resource-dependence, this working paper doesn't aim to open the debate on knowledge, but on what is knowledge is referring. According to Diane Stone (2012 : 339), knowledge refers to « first, research and evaluation studies and other in-house expert products originating from within official or public domain; second, scholarly and scientific knowledge that is used, abused, or adapted for governance activities and deliberations; third, independent policy analysis and advice commissioned or given on the basis of recognized expertise of individuals or organizations ». Following Diane Stone (2012), knowledge has long had a particular "task" : inform and/or legitimize public policies. However, nowadays, knowledge agents are involved in a devolution of governance. Diane Stone (2012 : 339) underlines that « knowledge agents have intrinsic governance capacities in their power to define problems, shape the climate of or engage in standard-setting, rule-making, or other regulatory activity ».

Considered in the third Diane Stone's perspective, knowledge organization are non-public organizations which are undertaking policy researches. Weidenbaum (2009) specifies that think tanks represent a form of knowledge organization which seek to influence (in)directly policy. Think tank often claims the "independence" of their researches and findings

With regards to think tanks, Stone (2007 : 344) underlined that they often highlight and claim the "independence" of their findings; considered as more credible than government researches. Think tank claim indeed their freedom « to think the unthinkable and question policy orthodoxy ».

3. EU Brussels-based think tanks

In order to assess the role of think tanks in the EU decision-making process, it is relevant to specify what constitutes this type of research institute (even if there are almost as many definitions as researchers writing on think tanks). Generally speaking, think tanks « vary considerably in size, structure, policy ambit and significance » (Stone & Denham, 2004: 2). Those various differences between definitions reflect the numerous cultural comprehension and analysis of these organizations. Considering that the first definitions of think tanks were expressed in the Anglo-American literature, a first development of those definitions will be provided before the development of a an European definition.

In a global comprehension, James Mc Gaan (2007 : 11) – American scholar – defines think tanks as « organizations that generate policy-oriented research, analysis, and advice on domestic and international

issues in an effort to enable policymakers and the public to make informed decisions about public policy issues ». On his side, Donald Abelson (2000) – Canadian scholar – remains more cautious about a complete and precise definition. However, Abelson and Carberry (1998 : 529) give a first definition of a think tank. Based on these principles, a think tank « may consist of a handful of people involved actively in studying a particular policy area who seek to inform and educate policy makers and the public through a variety of channels ». According to those two scholars, this definition may fit for the biggest majority of think tanks in Canada and the United States. Given the diversity of think tanks, no global definition is providing by Abelson (2009 : 9), only some common features of think tanks, which are « nonprofit, nonpartisan organizations engaged in the study of public policy ».

Then Stone and Denham (2004 : 2) – English scholars – try to put the "North-American" definitions into perspective. They stressed indeed that « adopting an Anglo-American definition of 'think tank' is problematic »; especially regarding the 'free-thinking' notion – supported by the North-American authors – which does not travel into other cultures (as in Europe). Generally speaking, Stone (2000 : 154) considers that the term of think tank is used to mean « independent [...] policy research institutes containing people involved in studying a particular policy area or a broad range of policy issues, actively seeking to educate or advice policy-makers and the public through a number of channels ». According to Stone (2000), think tank should not be classified as a (sub-)category of non-governmental organization (NGO). Even if we can consider think tank as a non-state actor; it is not a question – once again – of NGO. In some cases, think tanks are closely linked to government or universities, which creates dependence and connections, which is denied by NGOs.

On the basis of those different scientific submissions, we can deduce some characteristics of "European think tanks", i.e. think tanks active in the European arena. The first two features are common with north-American think tanks; there is a difference on the third feature. Firstly, think tanks are "permanent organizations", which differentiate them from social movements. Most think tanks are nowadays established as (international) association without lucrative purpose or non-governmental organizations. Hence, they take place outside the public sector. Therefore this allows them a significant autonomy from any corporate and other any interest. Secondly, as non-state actor, think tanks have no formal decision-making power. They are organizations producing policy-oriented researches and/or analyses, with their own research team. As shown later, these analyses can take several different forms, according to the "type" or "category" of think tanks. According to Denham and Garnett (1998 : 16-17), the primary objective of the think tank is the communication of their results to policy-makers (to inform public policy decisions), and public opinion in order to influence the climate of opinion. Finally, if we wish to define think tanks from a European perspective, think tank are non-profit organization, financed through public and private funds.⁴ A precise definition shall not be further developed in this working paper. As William Wallace (1998 : 226) stresses, « it therefore makes little sense to define a "think tank" too

⁴ Based on the report from the *Bureau of European "Policy* Advisers (2012), we can argue that the big majority of "European" think tanks are funded by the European Union and various stakeholders.

precisely. The functions which think tanks fulfil – research relevant to public policy, promotion of public debate, the questioning of the conventional wisdom, the formulation and dissemination of alternative concepts and policy agendas – can be fulfilled in many ways, under different constraints ».

Furthermore, as stated above, Stone, Denham, and Garnett (1998) take some distance from the notion of independence developed by Mc Gaan (2007). In one of his studies, this latter makes a clear distinction between independent and affiliated think tanks. However Stone *et al.* (1998 : 3) consider that « the notion according to which a *think tank* requires independence or autonomy vis-à-vis the State in order to enjoy a perfect 'freedom of thought' is a peculiarly Anglo-American notion that does not export well in other cultures ». This 'free-thinking' linked to think tanks is an Anglo-American norm which could not be translated into other different political cultures. Furthermore Stone (2000) points out that this distinction – between independent and affiliated think tank – is not clear.

Prior to a better understanding of think tanks through their institutional development, it is necessary to analyze the notion of dependence to which think tanks are associated. Think tanks have indeed specific engagement or relationship with "government" in order to succeed in influencing policy. However, according to Stone and Ullrich (2003 : 6), « their desire to preserve intellectual autonomy means that most institutes try to strike a delicate balance between dependence on government and total isolation from it ». That is the reason why the notion of "(in)dependence" should be taken with care precaution.

According to Stone and Ullrich (2003 : 6), « the degree of independence of these organizations varies across at least three dimensions »: a legal, financial and/or scholarly independence. Firstly, the *legal independence* means that we face a private organization located outside the formal / public apparatus. Various "types" of status are present, these organizations could be established as a commercial entity or as a non-profit organization. However even if some organizations are – by their status – considered as private organization, they are directly linked to government, political parties or corporation. Secondly, the *financial independence* « could be constructed as developing an endowment or having numerous sponsors and a diverse funding base » (Stone & Ullrich, 2003: 7). According to Stone (2000), the increase in the number of stakeholders and financial sources allows think tanks to tend to an intellectual integrity. Thirdly, the *scholarly independence* is analyzed through the research practices within an organization, such as the freedom of the research agenda definition, the peer review of the research, the critical analysis,...Overall, « cultural understandings of independence, the degree of research autonomy and the extent of interest in policy and political issues, varies [...] from one institute to another » (Stone & Ullrich, 2003: 7).

3.1 Development of think tanks in Europe

As in the United States, the European continent also faces four waves of development of think tanks. The first wave of development of think tanks occurred in Britain between the end of the 19th Century and the Second World War. This period corresponds to the emergence of complex societies (young democracies, growth of middle class, development of mass media). At that specific period, think tanks were generalist institutes, located outside of the government, and publishing mainly book-length researches

(e.g. the Fabian Society in 1884; Chatham House in 1920; the National Institute of Economic and Social Research in 1938). And we also find a first wave of development in other European countries such as in Germany (e.g. Institut für Wirstshaftsforschung in 1908; Institut für Weltwirtshaft Kiel in 1914), Austria (e.g. Österreichisches Institut für Wistschaftsforschung in 1927) and Sweden (Industriens Utredningsinstitut in 1939). However in comparison with British think tanks, other 'European think tanks' are less institutionalized; there are – in most cases – more informal associations.

The second wave of think tank took place in Western European countries from the Second World War until the late 1970's. This post-war period is synonymous with the emergence of the current well known European think tank (e.g. International Institute for Strategic Studies in 1958; German Institute for International and Security Affairs in 1962). It is the « period of massive growth of policy research and analysis capacity both inside and outside government, spurred by government funding » (Stone & Ullrich, 2003: 9). Contrary to the first wave (where think tanks tended to be more generalist), the second wave is mostly composed by 'technocratic think tanks'. This new category of think tanks could be subdivided into two groups : (1) think tanks focusing on *domestic policy* (e.g. the Policy Studies Institute), and (2) think tanks focusing on *security, defense and foreign policies* (e.g. Austrian Institute for International Affairs). At that period, there is a clear will of specialization of think tanks. However the orientation taken by those think tanks in their research production are state-centric.

The third wave of think tanks 'development took place from the 1980s to the late 1990s. This wave is characterized by a greater specialization of the think tanks and a development of 'independent' think tanks (e.g. Centre for European Policy Studies (CEPS)). Nevertheless another characteristic feature sees the day in this third wave : the ideological positioning of some think tanks, with a clear normative agenda. Those new 'ideological think tanks' are more present in some countries (in France and Britain) than others (such as in Germany). Those partisanship think tanks – called New Right think tanks - are in a advocacy position, trying to create a bridge between research and policy.

The fourth wave appears since the early 1990s (the last waves overlapped). Research conducted by think tanks transcend national borders. According to Stone and Ullrich (2003), this trend is primarily observed among independent think tanks; independence which gives them an autonomy vis-à-vis the national government. Furthermore, one can underline a significant increase in the number of EU-oriented think tanks, i.e. think tanks focusing European issues (such as the enlargement of the European Union, institutional reforms, financial regulation, etc.). The significant growth of EU-oriented think tanks can be analyzed as a direct response to (1) the growing area of competencies of the European Union, (2) the increasing complexity of the policy-making activities, and (3) the increasing demand on policy-makers of expertise. At that period a majority of non-state actors are increasingly involved in the decision-making process through various policy-relevant activities. Further to the difficulties met during the ratification of the Maastricht Treaty in 1992-1993 (CVCE 2012), European decision-makers acknowledge the need for transparency in the decision-making process. That is the reason why we may underlines a window of opportunity for non-states actors, such as think tanks. Stone and Ullrich (2003 : 11) notes that « the EU's

relatively transparent and open policy-making process provide think tanks with potentially numerous targets for their research and ideas ».

Complementary to those four waves of development, various other thesis aims to explain the expansion of think tanks on the European continent. A first thesis makes a direct connection between the development of think tanks with the spread of democracy; which contributes to more open even plural societies. On this argument, the development of various think tanks is synonymous with the spread of various political analysis and a public opinion. Another thesis regarding think tanks growth is linked to the 'overload' of issues processed by the government and the increased complexity of the decision-making process. Given that economies and societies become more and more complex, governments are dependent to « a need for more information, analysis and advice » (Stone & Ullrich, 2003: 12).

While governments are looking for 'evidence-based policy', think tanks seek to develop rational policy process (Dror, 1984). Stone and Ullrich (2003 : 12-13) considers a model as 'rational' if « it follows a logical and ordered sequence of policy-making phases. It is 'comprehensive' in the sense that it canvases, assesses and compares all options, calculating all the social, political and economic costs and benefits of a public policy ». This model is principally based on the idea according to which think tanks are able to collect and analyze all data's. This model also assumes that the collection of the set of information will allow the identification of the best policy option. This view gives think tanks a role of neutral expert which present all policy options.

Rather than the mobilization and use of a 'rational' knowledge in public policy, the development of think tanks could be also an indicator of the level of politicization of knowledge. Instead of the previous model, this model argues that researches and analyses are used *ex post facto* in order to legitimate a predetermined public policy.

3.2 Classifying think tanks

Various think tank typologies were developed by "North American" and "European" scholars (Abelson, 2009 ; Boucher & Royo, 2012 ; Mc Gaan, 2007 ; Stone & Denham, 2004). This part aims to develop a typology of EU think tanks which brings another analytic view.

First developed in the United States, this part will focus on the typology – developed by James Mc Gaan (2007) – which is one of the more detailed one. Mc Gaan (2007) initiate his typology by differentiating the type of affiliation, i.e. the way they are financed. This typology generally constitutes a first basis to other typologies (developed around the world). Through this typology, Mc Gaan (2007) aims to describe all the different types of think tanks presents in the Unites States. The first basis of his typology is the distinction between the funding models of the think tanks; he distinguishes independent and affiliated think tanks. These two categories are divided into four types of think tanks.

Independent		Affiliated	
Academic-diversified and academic- specialized	Advocacy	Party-affiliated	<i>Private / for profit</i>
Contract-research organization or contract consulting institution	Policy enterprise	Government sponsored	University-based

Table 1: think tank typology developed by James Mc Gaan (2007)

3.3 European typology

As with the 'North-American' typology, various EU think tank typology were developed by scholars (Boucher & Royo, 2012 ; Ullrich, 2004). In the framework of this working paper, we suggest the development of two typologies. The first typology – developed by Boucher and Royo (2012) – is directly derived from the typology developed by Mc Gaan (2007) previously presented. The second typology – developed by Ullrich (2004) – introduces the distinction between Member States and Brussels-based think tanks.

Typology developed by Boucher and Royo (2012)

On basis of this 'American' typology, Boucher and Royo (2012) developed a typology focused on EU think tanks. In this typology, those scholars take into consideration the assumption according to which the autonomy or independence held by think tanks vis-à-vis the State constitutes a Anglo-American notion, not relevant for 'European' cases.

Therefore Boucher and Royo (2012 : 27-45) developed four types of affiliated think tanks in their typology:

- (1) University-based think tanks or "universities without students" are think tanks focusing on the development of a scientific research. That are « analytical organizations » (Weiss, 1992) which pursue the goal of producing high quality academic researches.
- (2) *Contract think tanks* are quite similar to the previous category. The only difference is in the funding source; contract think tanks are essentially funded by government agencies.
- (3) Advocacy think tanks are involved in the category of think tanks which produce ideas and recommendations closely linked to specific values and opinions. The goal of such type of think tank is to win the war of ideas rather than looking forward selflessly the best policy solution to an issue.

(4) *Party-affiliated think tanks* are specific organ of the political party. The conducted researches of this type of think tank are directly linked to political values and agenda of the political party.

Typology developed by Ullrich (2004)

Another typology of EU and EU-oriented think tanks have been developed by Ullrich (2004). Just like Boucher and Royo (2012), Ullrich (2004) developed four category within his typology.:

- (1) *EU's internal think tank*: this first category is directly linked to the think tank which operates within the European Commission (EC), better known as European Political Strategy Centre. This think tank consists of experts giving policy advice to the President of the EC and his cabinet.
- (2) Member-state EU-oriented think tanks: this category includes various EU member-state and EU-oriented think tanks. Those latter vary depending on their objectives and methods of operation. According to Ullrich (2004 : 53), this is « due to the nature of their particular domestic political system ».
- (3) Brussels-based EU think tanks: just like the name indicates, that are think tanks located in Brussels. They differ from their EU member-state counterparts because of their "independence" vis-à-vis a member-state. That means that this third category of think tank is relatively independent from the national issues and/or political agendas.
- (4) *University-based European institutes* : this category of think tank claims their independence in term of research and research agenda. They « often collaborate with each or other think tanks on specific research projects. Thus a mutually beneficial relationship is formed » (Ullrich, 2004: 53).

Given the multi-dimensional nature of the European decision, Ullrich (2004 : 54) underlines that there are significant differences in objectives within each category of this typology. He outlines three different primary functions/objectives of think tanks : « (1) generating ideas; (2) policy-oriented analysis and outreach; and (3) furthering debate ».

Typologies put into question

Contrary to North-American typologies on think tanks, we consider that those categorizations are not relevant for think tanks working at the EU level. Two main reason could be underlined : (1) due to the "late" emerging and development of Brussels-based EU think tanks, they don't have – in their general work – any specific primary functions. Some primary functions are present in their mission statement. However, EU think tanks adapt their objectives accordingly with the stage of the decision-making process. Therefore UE think tanks fulfil the three functions in accordance with the policy process. However the "extreme" typology (of functions) – developed by Ullrich (2004) could be partially validated. Some think tanks (such as Bruegel) often favor one of the three functions in their daily work. (2) Contrary to the typology

developed by Boucher and Royo (2012), the American typology could not be transposed into the EU model. EU think tanks are a specific category, with some common characteristics:

- *Legal independence*: EU Brussels-based think tanks are established as international not-for-profit organization under Belgian law.
- Financial independence: every EU think tanks see themselves as independent think tanks (in global way) (with the exception of the European Political Strategy Centre, internal think tanks of the European Commission). They justify this independence through their numerous stakeholders or members. This allows thinks tanks to preserve an intellectual integrity.
- *Scholarly independence* : research practices of EU Brussels-based think tanks are not linked to specific contracts or political parties requests. However the scholarly (in)dependence is directly partly linked to the agenda definition and the peer review organized by the supervisory board.

4. Bruegel

Established in 2005, Bruegel is a EU (Brussels-based) think tank. Its conducted researches focus on economic policy, financial regulation and global economic governance. Bruegel considers itself as an independent and non-doctrinal think tank. According to its website, the mission statement of Bruegel is to «improve the quality of economic policy with open and fact-based research, analysis and debate».

4.1 Funding sources

Funding sources of Bruegel rely mainly on membership funding⁵. Bruegel's membership includes various type of actors : EU Member state governments, international corporations and autonomous public institutions. *Corporations* contribute the same amount : \notin 50.000 per year; and the contribution of *EU member states* depend on the size of the country. For example, for state members 'subscriptions amounts (for the year 2015) vary from 33.203€ (for countries from category 1, such as Malta or Luxembourg) to 199.218€ (for countries from category 5, such as France or United Kingdom).

The global « subscription funding is balanced between public and private-sector contributions, and no single member contributes more than 3% to 5% of the yearly budget » (Bruegel 2015). The financial independence claimed by Bruegel is justified by the idea according to which the amount of the different members do not take too many weight on their global budget.

4.2 Organization

⁵ 85% of Bruegel's funding comes from membership funding.

Bruegel is a "non-profit international association" (AISBL⁶) under Belgian law, governed by its statutes and bylaws. Bruegel is organized around three "hubs": the *board*, the *director* and the *scientific council*.

The *Board* is composed of 12 members (the chairman and 11 members). « The board is appointed by the members with some board members being directly elected » (Bruegel 2015). This board is currently chaired by Jean-Claude Trichet and eleven members. All the members of the board have backgrounds in national/European government, business, civil society and/or academic institutions. The Board manage the global organization of the think tank: « the board decides on strategy, adopts the research program and budget and approves appointments of senior staff » (Bruegel 2015).

The *Director* is in charge of the management of Bruegel. Jointly with the *deputy director*, the *director* prepare the research program, annual work plan, budget, and annual report; the whole should be approved by the *board*. The *director* and the *deputy director* have also an important role on the publications of Bruegel. They exercise an editorial oversight over all the publications. However Bruegel justifies its independency by claiming that no institutional standpoint is taken; and that the «publications reflect the views of the authors only » (Bruegel 2015).

The *Scientific Council* is appointed by the *board*. Its main role is to advice and evaluate Bruegel's management and staff on the quality of its researches. Moreover the chairperson of the *council* participate to the meetings of the *board*.

4.3 Production/researches

The independence and objectivity of Bruegel's researches is claimed by the organization. They insure this objectivity through a *Statement of Research Integrity* that each scholar/researcher should sign. Through this "contract", they commit to avoid any partisanship or parochialism.

Bruegel is composed of five types of researchers: resident scholars, visiting scholars, non-resident scholars, research assistants and fellows at large. Bruegel operates a *Visiting Fellow program* which allows "outside" researchers to contribute – during a limited period – to Bruegel's research. Those researchers are generally from another research institute.

Main of the researches conducted at Bruegel are based on a research program. The research agenda/ program is defined in two steps. In a first time, stakeholders are consulted; but the consultation is opened to the scientific council and academics. This is an annual process which gather every concerned persons in a big meeting wherein researchers and stakeholders are debating on the policy agenda. After the meeting, a draft is written and send to a number of stakeholders to comment in detail. Comments could be accepted or rejected. Then the research program is presented to the Board which approves the program. Bruegel makes sure that the research agenda covers a certain percentage of the year. In this perspective, they keep time and space to react to new facts and actuality. Therefore the research program cover

⁶ AISBL refers (in French) to Association Internationale Sans But Lucratif.

researchers time for 75 -80 % of the time. Therefore if something happens, Bruegel gets ready to bring an answer to the issue. In this perspective, Bruegel try to find a balance between the short and long termism . Bruegel, as EU think tank, differ from US think tanks. The traditional model of US think tanks favor very long term researches. They are mainly in a long term influence on debates by – for example – writing books and providing a lot of background material. The EU model of think tanks is more in a short term perspective. There is a deep questioning for a EU think tank to where should they make investment and where should they be focusing in the short / long term.

Furthermore, on basis of interviews lead with Bruegel's scholars, Bruegel may be considered as an « umbrella » organization. That means that each scholars working for Bruegel may develop their own position or point of view in their paper. The Bruegel brand aim to bring quality researches in the policy debate. Therefore an internal reviewing is established within Bruegel. This review focus essentially on the quality of the paper written by Bruegel scholars and the consistency of the intellectual lines. A first reviewing is organized between Bruegel's scholar of a specific section. A final reviewing is done by the Director of Bruegel.

5. Competing in the marketplace of ideas in a EU multilevel governance

This part will underline the strategies EU think tank employ to generate attention in the public arena and in policy circles. A specific emphasis is placed on the role and balance played by those think tanks in a multi-level governance. Moreover, as underlined by various scholars (Abelson, 2000 ; Mc Gaan, 2007 ; Stone & Ullrich, 2003 ; Ullrich, 2004), a distinction should be made – within the global repertoire of actions of think tanks – between *public* and *private* influence.

5.1 Public influence

While think tanks are often considered as « elite organizations composed of scholars pursuing research in relative isolation » (Abelson, 2009: 78), they are increasingly visible. Furthermore in the market of ideas, think tanks are still competing to catch the attention of policymakers and the public. Then in the repertoire of actions of think tanks, some strategies of influence are hidden from the public, others may be easily identified.

Holding conferences and forums to discuss EU issues

One of the most common strategy employed by think tanks – to increase awareness about a particular issue – is holding forums and conferences. « Policymakers, journalists, academics and representatives from the private and nonprofit sectors are regularly invited to discuss timely and often controversial issues before public audiences » (Abelson, 2009: 78)

Different types of conferences and forums (generally called *events*) are organized within think tanks. We may first mention *standard events* which are events organized by the EU think tank in order to promote studies or reports (developed by researchers of the think tank) on EU issues. Attending to those events is totally free and gather mainly representatives of EU and national non-state organizations and representatives of EU institutions. By way of example we might refer to an *event* organized around the publication of a book – *Europe's economic priorities 2010-2015. Memos to the new Commission* – written by Bruegel Scholars and edited by Senior Research Fellow, André Sapir.

We may refer secondly to *events* organized on demand of an EU official representative. Numerous events are organized by EU think tanks on demand of European Commissioners. As an example, we may mention the event organized (on demand) with Andrus Ansip, Vice-President of the European Commission and European Commissioner for the Digital Single Market on 3rd May 2016. In the first instance he presents « the place of parcel delivery in the DSM » (Bruegel, 2016). Then he discussed and commented a research conducted by a Bruegel scholar « suggesting there are useful parallels with telecommunications interconnection and roaming » (Bruegel, 2016).

Thirdly, EU think tanks also organize close-door events. « The aim of the event is to brainstorm with a small circle of Bruegel scholars, members, and selected officials on priorities for the new Commission» (Bruegel, 2013). Those type of events may be organized by the think tank on its own initiative or on demand of an EU official.

The various elements developed previously in this point highlight the area of influence developed by think tanks in their own building through the organization of *events*. By allowing the exchange of ideas and point of views, EU think tanks may have a (in)direct influence on decision-makers. Furthermore those events gather numerous types of (non-)state actors (EU/national professional and business associations, diplomatic actors, (non-)governmental organizations,...). By gathering those different types of actors (from EU/national levels), EU think tanks become a "*buffer zone*" wherein those latter highlight and escalate some specific national issues – especially – to EU officials. Therefore they become an area wherein informal interactions take place and wherein 'national' and 'local' ideas/interest may be discussed.

In the same perspective, we may also mention some public sessions and restricted workshops organized outside Brussels. Even if EU officials are not always present to such events, it is also a way for national non-state actors to highlight some issues to Bruegel. Some of those issues could be later taken into consideration by Bruegel, and be subject to a specific contribution/publication from Bruegel.⁷

« Encouraging scholars to give public lectures and addresses » (Abelson, 2009: 78)

Following Abelson (2009), managing council of think tanks encourage their scholars to give lectures at universities or any organizations getting interest in current political issues. In this perspective high-profile scholars become ambassadors on behalf of their organization. « Several scholars at think tanks

⁷ As a reminder, the *Board* of Bruegel is in charge of defining the research agenda. Members have no (or few) impact on this agenda definition.

regularly perform this role and, in the process, remind their audience the efforts their organizations are undertaking to convince policy-makers to follow the right path » (Abelson, 2009: 79).

In this effort to promote their organization, we may notify the participation of Bruegel at the TATRA Summit. Launched by the Centre for European Affairs, this summit's objective is to bring together diverse types of participants (representatives of EU institutions, EU member states 'ministries, lobbies, think tanks). This summit is organized around numerous conferences (that aims to contribute to define/shape the future political and economic governance of the EU).

Testifying before committees and subcommittees of EU/national institutions

Abelson (2009 : 79) underlines the idea according to which « several think tanks also recognize the importance of conveying ideas to policymakers and the public in a more formal manner ». Some think tanks in the EU accomplish this by testifying before legislative committees – although some, including Bruegel. Providing and presenting testimonies to a prominent committee can promote the think tank – and its credibility – in the eyes of some decision-makers. In this perspective, Bruegel scholars have providing various testimonies to the European Parliament and to numerous national Parliaments. However we must mention the conditions under which those testimonies are presented.

Firstly, various European Parliament committees and think tanks are generally in a "contract relationship", through call for studies. We may mention the study on the request of the Economic and Monetary Affairs Committee on February 2014, called "The Troika and financial assistance in the euro area: successes and failures". Such testimonies can catch considerable attention. Oral presentation and written policy contribution are included in the official report. Therefore it allows to be cited by academics and journalists.

Secondly, think tanks – considered as expert groups or knowledge agents – are also invited for hearings at national parliaments. We may mention the hearing presented by Grégory Claeys – Bruegel scholar – at the French Senate European Affairs Committee concerning the role of the European Central Bank during the financial crisis. Such hearing are then part of the minutes of the Committee.

Publication of books, reports, opinion papers, policy briefs,...

In order to market their ideas, think tanks rely their analysis and studies in various type of publications. Unlike books (which are often outdated at the time of their publication), policy briefs provide decision-makers insights into current policy issues. « Often on a particular theme, these publication help to frame the parameters of important and relevant policy debates, and more importantly for policymakers, who have hectic schedules, they can be read in a matter of minutes, not hours or days » (Abelson, 2009: 80). However policymakers are not the only readers of think tanks' policy brief. Scholars, academics and students are also consumers of policy briefs.

In the same perspective, Stone and Ullrich (2003) developed the idea of *creative Communication*. According to those two scholars, researchers are – generally speaking – poor communicator and have difficulties to 'market' their findings. Therefore think tanks hire 'policy entrepreneurs' who can simplify – through story lines – complicated research findings. «Usually an entrepreneur is an individual, but sometimes an organization such as a think tank or research network plays a similar role in marketing knowledge or synthesizing and popularizing research » (Stone & Ullrich, 2003: 23).

Different types of publications may be counted at Bruegel (policy brief, policy contribution, memo, blue print,...). According to its secretary general of Bruegel, the type of the publication vary in accordance with the profile of the actor. For example, an official of the European Commission will receive a more technical publication; while a member of the European Parliament will receive a memo (which can be read faster).

Therefore think tanks have to target research to key audiences. Following Stone and Ullrich (2003), the principal challenge of think tanks is to determine who are the key actors within a policy community (both inside and outside the government) at each stage of the decision-making process.

Email distribution lists

The creation of a mailing list allow think tanks to send all updates to scholars, academics, journalists, policymakers, and all people interested in the think tank. This mailing list ensure think tanks that 'everybody' is kept informed about current issues and organized events.

Media exposure

Following Stone and Ullrich (2003 : 23), « one supply problem is the inadequate dissemination of research result». Researches and findings should be disseminated through other routes than the academic route (which represents a small readership). The dissemination is an important method also underlined by Abelson (2009) who seeks to measure a part of the think tank's impact on the public opinion in accordance with the number finding's publications in media.

Therefore - to compete in the market of ideas – the exposure in media constitute one of the most visible strategy. There is an important competition for media exposure between think tanks. Numerous think tanks 'directors analyze their policy influence through their media exposure. This may explain why think tanks are devoting so much resources to a media exposure. Following Abelson (2009 : 85), « securing access to the media on a regular basis provides think tanks with a valuable opportunity to shape public opinion and public policy ». Failing shaping public opinion, think tanks may contribute to the public debate on a policy issue. In both cases, the media exposure of a think tanks produces the illusion of a policy influence is mobilized by think tanks 'directors to claim their effective influence on public opinion.

Then the media exposure depends - in part - on the personal relationships maintained with journalists. According to Crowley (2003), journalists are firstly looking for personal relationships; ideas come next. Journalists wish to have a network of experts whom they can trust. So journalist may use the ideas developed by those experts (to write articles) without running the risk to appear ridiculous.

The media exposure of a think tank is difficult to bring to light. We may notify the presence of Bruegel in twitter (37400 followers) and Facebook (5000 'friends'). However, Bruegel's scholars are encouraged to post analysis / comments on the actuality on their own twitter account. This is a way to increase their visibility. Moreover Bruegel has also a 'press officer' exclusively in charge for relationship

with national press (from EU member states, but also outside Europe). Therefore we may notify interviews / extract from studies in different newsletters (such as Bloomberg, El Mundo, New York Times,...). According the general secretary of Bruegel, one of the purpose of Bruegel is to be cited in each 'relevant' national newspapers. Therefore the media exposure allows placing the European debate on national levels; that – in an indirect way – will be on the table of intergovernmental discussions. That may be the reason why Bruegel devote time and resources to reach and gain access to print media.

5.2 Private influence

While public influence exercises are easier to be observed and documented, private influence strategies are much more difficult to highlight.

Maintaining liaisons with EU officials / EU member states representatives

As underlined by Abelson (2009 : 82), « there are few ways experts from think tanks can get closer to the policy-making process than becoming policymakers themselves ». According to Grossman and Saurugger (2006), any organized group seeks to address policy makers – in the most direct way – in order to weigh up on public policy. The purpose is the built and the maintain of stable relationships with policymakers.

According to Bruegel's general secretary, closed relationships and liaisons are indeed an undeniable plus for the organization. However those liaisons depend and vary from a scholar to another (its profile, experience, past,...).

Organizing closed conferences, seminar and workshop with selected policymakers

EU officials are often invited by think tanks in specific conferences, seminar or workshops in order to discuss an issue in a small committee. This strategy enables think tanks 'scholars to discuss issues and communicate some insights with decision-makers (who are generally in a position to influence the content of the legislation). Many "*closed-door brainstorming workshops*" are organized at Bruegel. This type of workshops may be organized by Bruegel or in collaboration with EU institutions (generally the European Commission). It was – for example – the case of an event organized conjointly with the European Commission on the development of a Capital Markets Union. A brainstorming workshop was organized at Bruegel, bringing together EU officials (from the European Commission), representatives of EU member states, capital markets participants and independent experts. Also, some closed-door events – organized by Bruegel – bring together members and partners of Bruegel. We may mention the annual dinner organized by Bruegel. This meeting was preceded by a keynote address from Donald Tusk (president of the European Council).

« Offering former policymakers positions at think tanks » (Abelson, 2009: 82)

According to Abelson (2009 : 84), « some policymakers [...] are so impressed with think tanks that they decide to make them their permanent home after completing their public service ». However those «

former high-profile policymakers are not recruited to think tanks because of their potential as researchers but because of their ability to attract funds ».

In the framework of Bruegel, we may mention the presence of some former high-profile policymakers : (1) Jean-Claude Trichet, former president of the European Central Bank, currently chairman of Bruegel; (2) André Sapir, former economic adviser to Romano Prodi (as president of the European Commission), currently senior fellow at Bruegel. In the perspective of Bruegel, such profile provide especially a wide professional network and reinforce the credibility of Bruegel with EU official and (non-)state actors. *« Preparing studies and policy briefs for policy makers » (Abelson, 2009: 82)*

According to Stone (1996), policymakers are requestors of policy researches. However they are in a 'pressure cooker' environment. So policy researches should be relevant, and above all action oriented. Policy makers demands may refer to two different purpose. Some decision-makers are asking for research findings in order to put into question a political status quo. Others are looking for a scientific credibility in order to legitimate their actions, decisions and policy orientations. The most important – for a think tank – is to know the decision-making process and the deadline that falls to the decision-maker.

We may mention – as an example - Guntram Wolff. He focuses his researches on the European economy and governance, on fiscal and monetary policy and global finance. He is the director of Bruegel and a member of the French prime minister's council. In the perspective of those two functions, he regularly testifies at the European Parliament, the ECOFIN meetings (bringing together European Finance Ministers), the German and French Parliament.

CONCLUSION

The theoretical and analytical perspectives on EU think tanks provides various opportunities for empirical research. The purpose of this working paper was to provide a first presentation picture of EU think tanks activities within the European multi-level governance, through Bruegel. In this perspective, Bruegel is considered as a key case, selected due to its representativeness.

Bruegel has to be analyzed in a specific policy environment: the European Union. Considered by Börzel (2012) as a unique governance mix, no single-model is relevant to describe the decision-making process. However, in the framework of this working paper, the multilevel aspect of the European governance has been taken into consideration. The purpose of this working paper was to analyze how a think tank (working especially on EU issues) get used to this multilevel environment. Think tanks are involved in this specific environment with a set of other state and non-state actors who hold limited resources. The main resource mobilized by think tanks is knowledge. Think tanks are building scientific facts in order to create a resource-dependence with public actors.

Then, before going further with the repertoire of actions (personal to Bruegel), it was relevant to conceptualize what is a EU think tank. As developed above in this working paper, there are as many

definitions as researchers working on this object. However, we will keep in mind that there are a common basis of each definitions. Think tanks are permanent organizations which generates policy researches on different (political, economic and/or social) issues. As non-state actor, those organizations have no formal power in the decision-making process; but they seek to shape the political dialogue and preferences. We will also mention that a major difference exist between north-American and European definitions : the funding sources or the question of independence. Stone, Denham and Garnett (1998) specified that this independence vis-à-vis the state constitutes an Anglo-American notion which could not be exported in others culture.

Then the paper focused on the repertoire of actions of Bruegel by highlighting practical example, representative of global practices of this think tank. Based on documents/reports analysis and interviews, the paper focus on the description and analysis of public and private strategies to influence decision-makers. Moreover, as specified by Abelson (2007 : 571), « policy influence [...] is not simply about achieving desirable outcomes. It is a process which allows various individuals and organizations to exchange ideas with journalists, academics, members of the attentive public and policy-makers throughout government. But it is important to remember that this process does not occur overnight, but may take months and years to unfold ».

Finally, even if the influence of think tanks in the European governance is difficult to measure, further empirical researches are needed to complete the theoretical approach on EU think tanks. Those further studies will underline the specific actions put in place by think tanks in a unique European governance.

BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

- ABELSON, D. (2000). "Do Think Tanks Matter? Opportunities, Constraints and Incentives for Think Tanks in Canada and the United States". *Global society*, 14(2), 213-236.
- ABELSON, D. (2007)." Any Ideas? Think tanks and Policy Analysis in Canada". In L. Dobuzinskis, M. Howlett, & D. Laycock (Eds.), *Policy Analysis in Canada: The State of the Art* (pp. 551-573). Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

ABELSON, D. (2009). Do Think Tanks Matter? (2nd ed.). Canada: McGill-Queen's University Press.

- ABELSON, D., & Carberry, C. (1998). "Following Suit or Falling behind? A Comparative Analysis of Think Tanks in Canada and theUnited States". *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, 31(3), 525-555.
- BÖRZEL, T. A. (2012)." The European Union A Unique Governance Mix". In D. Levi-Faur (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Governance* (pp. 613-627). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- BOUCHER, S., & ROYO, M. (2012). Les think tanks. Cerveaux de la guerre des idées (3th ed.). Paris: Editions du Félin.

- BRUEGEL. (2013). "Priorities and challenges for the new Commission". from http://bruegel.org/events/priorities-and-challenges-for-the-new-commission/
- BRUEGEL. (2016). "E-commerce in Europe: Lessons for parcel delivery from electronic communications". from <u>http://bruegel.org/events/promoting-e-commerce-in-europe-lessons-for-parcel-delivery-from-electronic-communications-policy/</u>
- CALLON, M., & LATOUR, B. (1991). a science telle qu'elle se fait. Anthologie de la sociologie des sciences *de langue anglaise* (Vol.). Paris: La Découverte.
- COLEMAN, W. D., & SKOGSTAD, G. (1990). *Policy Communities and Public Policy in Canada*. Toronto: Copp Clark Pitman.
- CROWLEY, B. L. (2003). *How Can Think Tanks Win Friends and Influence People in the Media*. Paper presented at the Atlas Liberty Forum, Colorado Springs.
- DENHAM, A., & GARNETT, M. (1998). British Think Tanks and the Climate of Opinion. London: UCL Press.
- DROR, Y. (1984). "Required Breakthroughs in Think Tanks". Policy Sciences, 16(3), 199-225.
- EISING, R. (2008). "Interest groups in EU policy-making". *Living Reviews in European Governance*, 3(4), 4-23.
- EUROPA.EU.
 (2015).
 "Transparency
 Register"
 from

 http://ec.europa.eu/transparencyregister/public/consultation/statistics.do?action=prepareView&loca

 http://ec.europa.eu/transparencyregister/public/consultation/statistics.do?action=prepareView&loca

 http://ec.europa.eu/transparencyregister/public/consultation/statistics.do?action=prepareView&loca
- FILLIEULE, O. (2010)." Tombeau pour Charles Tilly. Répertoires, performances et stratégies d'action". In
 O. Fillieule, E. Agrikoliansky, & I. Sommier (Eds.), *Penser les mouvements sociaux. Conflits sociaux et contestations dans les sociétés contemporaines* (pp. 77-99). Paris: La Découverte.
- GROSSMAN, E., & SAURUGGER, S. (2006). Les groupes d'intérêt. Action collective et stratégie de représentations. Paris: Armand Colin.
- HAALAND MATLARY, J. (1997)." The Role of the Commission : A Theoretical Discussion". In N. Nugent (Ed.), At the Heart of the Union : Studies of the European Commission (pp. 270-287). London: Macmillan.
- HASSENTEUFEL, P., & SUREL, Y. (2000). "Des politiques publiques comme les autres ?". *Politique européenne*, 1(1), 8-24.
- HIX, S., & HOYLAND, B. (2011). The political system of the European Union (3rd ed.). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- HOLLAND, S. (1980). Uncommon Market : Capital, Class and Power in the European Community. London: MacMillan.
- LAFFAN, B. (1997). "From Policy Entrepreneur to Policy Manager. The Challenge facing the European Commission". *Journal of European Public Policy*, 4(3), 422-438.

- MAZEY, S., & RICHARDSON, J. (1993)." Transference of Power, Decisison Rules and Rules of the Game".In S. Mazey & J. Richardson (Eds.), *Lobbying in the European Community* (pp. 3-26). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- MAZEY, S., & RICHARDSON, J. (1995)." The Command of the Lobby". In G. Edwards & D. Spence (Eds.), *The European Commission* (pp. 169-201). London: Cartemill.
- MC GAAN, J. (2007). Think tanks and policy advice in the United States. Academics, advisors and advocates. Oxon: Routledge.
- PETERS, G. (1994). "Agenda-setting in the European Community". Journal of European Public Policy, 1(1), 9-26.
- RHODES, R. A. W. (1997). Understanding Governance: Policy Networks, Governance, Reflexivity and Accountability. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- RHODES, R. A. W. (2006)." Policy Network Analysis". In M. Moran, M. Rein, & R. E. Goodin (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of Public Policy* (pp. 425-447). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- SHERRINGTON, P. (2000). "Shaping the policy agenda: think tank activity in the European Union". *Global society*, 14(2), 173-189.
- STONE, D. (1996). *Capturing the political imagination. Think tanks and the policy process*. London: Frank Cass & co.
- STONE, D. (2000). "ThinkTank Transnationalisation and non-profit analysis, Advice and Advocacy". *Global society*, 14(2), 153-172.
- STONE, D. (2007). "Recycling Bins, Garbage Cab or Think tanks? Three Myths Regarding Policy Analysis Institutes". *Public Administration*, 85(2), 259-278.
- STONE, D. (2012)." Agents of knowledge". In D. Levi-Faur (Ed.), *The Oxford Handbook of Governance* (pp. 339-352). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- STONE, D., & DENHAM, A. (2004). *Think tank traditions. Policy research and the politics of ideas*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- STONE, D., DENHAM, A., & GARNETT, M. (1998). *Think tanks across nations. A comparative approach*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- STONE, D., & ULLRICH, H. (2003). *Policy Research Institutes and Think Tanks in Western: Development Trends and Perspectives*. Paper presented at the Local Government Institute, Budapest.
- THOMAS, G. (2011). "A Typology for the Case Study in Social Science Following a Review of Definition, Discourse, and Structure". *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17(6), 511-521.
- ULLRICH, H. (2004)." European Union think tanks: generating ideas, analysis and debate ". In D. Stone & A. Denham (Eds.), *Think tank traditions. Policy research and the politics of ideas* (pp. 51-70). Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- WALLACE, W. (1998)." Ideas and influence ". In D. Stone, A. Denham, & M. Garnett (Eds.), *Think tanks across nations. A comparative approach* (pp. 223-230). Manchester: Manchester University Press.

WEIDENBAUM, M. (2009). *The Competition of Ideas : The World of Washington Think Tanks*. New Brunswick: Transaction.

WEISS, C. (1992). Organization for Policy Analysis : Helping Government think. Newbury Park: Sage.

SCHOOL OF GOVERNMENT

The LUISS School of Government (SoG) is a graduate school training high-level public and private officials to handle political and government decision-making processes. It is committed to provide theoretical and hands-on skills of good government to the future heads of the legislative, governmental and administrative institutions, industry, special-interest associations, non-governmental groups, political parties, consultancy firms, public policy research institutions, foundations and public affairs institutions.

The SoG provides its students with the skills needed to respond to current and future public policy challenges. While public policy was enclosed within the state throughout most of the last century, the same thing cannot be said for the new century. Public policy is now actively conducted outside and beyond the state. Not only in Europe but also around the world, states do not have total control over those public political processes that influence their decisions. While markets are Europeanised and globalised, the same cannot be said for the state.

The educational contents of the SoG reflect the need to grasp this evolving scenario since it combines the theoretical aspects of political studies (such as political science, international relations, economics, law, history, sociology, organisation and management) with the practical components of government (such as those connected with the analysis and evaluation of public policies, public opinion, interests' representation, advocacy and organizational leadership).

For more information about the LUISS School of Government and its academic and research activities visit. www.sog.luiss.it

SUBMISSION GUIDELINES

LUISS School of Government welcomes unsolicited working papers in English and Italian from interested scholars and practitioners. Papers are submitted to anonymous peer review. Manuscripts can be submitted by sending them at sog@luiss.it. Authors should prepare complete text and a separate second document with information identifying the author. Papers should be between 8,000 and 12,000 words (excluding notes and references). All working papers are expected to begin with an indented and italicised abstract of 150 words or less, which should summarise the main arguments and conclusions of the article. Manuscripts should be single spaced, 11 point font, and in Times New Roman.

Details of the author's institutional affiliation, full postal and email addresses and other contact information must be included on a separate cover sheet. Any acknowledgements should be included on the cover sheet as should a note of the exact length of the article. A short biography of up to 75 words should also be submitted.

All diagrams, charts and graphs should be referred to as figures and consecutively numbered. Tables should be kept to a minimum and contain only essential data. Each figure and table must be given an Arabic numeral, followed by a heading, and be referred to in the text. Tables should be placed at the end of the file and prepared using tabs. Any diagrams or maps should be supplied separately in uncompressed .TIF or .JPEG formats in individual files. These should be prepared in black and white. Tints should be avoided, use open patterns instead. If maps and diagrams cannot be prepared electronically, they should be presented on good quality white paper. If mathematics are included, 1/2 is preferred.

It is the author's responsibility to obtain permission for any copyrighted material included in the article. Confirmation of Workinthis should be included on a separate sheet included with the file.

SOG WORKING PAPER SERIES

The LUISS School of Government aims to produce cutting-edge work in a wide range of fields and disciplines through publications, seminars, workshops, conferences that enhance intellectual discourse and debate. Research is carried out using comparative approaches to explore different areas, many of them with a specifically European perspective. The aim of this research activities is to find solutions to complex, real-world problems using an interdisciplinary approach. LUISS School of Government encourages its academic and student community to reach their full potential in research and professional development, enhancing career development with clear performance standards and high-quality. Through this strong focus on high research quality, LUISS School of Government aims to understanding and influencing the external research and policy agenda.

This working paper series is one of the main avenues for the communication of these research findings and opens with these contributions.

WP #1 – Sergio FABBRINI, Intergovermentalism and Its Outcomes: the Implications of the Euro Crisis on the European Union SOG-Working Paper 1, January 2013.

WP #2 - Barbara GUASTAFERRO, *Reframing Subsidiarity Inquiry from an "EU value-added" to an "EU non encroachment" test? Some Insights from National Parliaments' Reasoned Opinions.* SOG-Working Paper 2, February 2013.

WP #3 - Karolina BOROŃSKA-HRYNIEWIECKA, *Regions and subsidiarity after Lisbon:* overcoming the 'regional blindness'?, SOG-Working Paper 3, March 2013.

WP #4 - Cristina FASONE, *Competing concepts in the early warning mechanism*, SOG-Working Paper 4, March 2013.

WP #5 - Katarzyna GRANAT, Institutional Design of the Member States for the Ex Post Subsidiarity Scrutiny, SOG-Working Paper 5, March 2013.

WP #6 – Cecilia Emma SOTTILOTTA, *Political Risk: Concepts, Definitions, Challenges*, SOG-Working Paper 6, April 2013.

WP #7 – Gabriele MAESTRI, Il voto libero: la necessità di regole chiare e trasparenti sul procedimento preparatorio e di un contenzioso che decida rapidamente, SOG-Working Paper 7, July 2013.

WP #8 – Arlo POLETTI & Dirl DE BIÈVRE, Rule enforcement and cooperation in the WTO: legal vulnerability, issue characteristics, and negotiation strategies in the DOHA round, SOG-

Working Paper 8, September 2013.

WP #9 - Sergio FABBRINI, *The Parliamentary election of the Commission President: costraints on the Parlamentarization of the European Union*, SOG-Working Paper 9, October 2013.

WP #10 - Lorenzo DONATELLI, La disciplina delle procedure negoziali informali nel "triangolo decisionale" unionale: dagli accordi interistituzionali alla riforma dell'articolo 70 del regolamento del Parlamento Europeo, SOG Working Paper 10, October 2013.

WP #11 - Mattia GUIDI & Yannis KARAGIANNIS, *The Eurozone crisis, decentralized bargaining and the theory of EU institutions*, SOG Working Paper 11, November 2013.

WP #12 - Carlo CERUTTI, *Political Representation in the European Parliament: a Reform Proposal*, SOG Working Papers 12, January 2014.

WP #13 – Dessislava CHERNEVA-MOLLOVA, *The EP's rules of procedure and ther implications for the Eu institutional balance*, SOG Working Papers 13, February 2014.

WP #14 - Luca BARTOLUCCI, *The European Parliament and the 'opinions' of national parliaments*, SOG Working Papers 14, February 2014.

WP #15 - Leonardo MORLINO, *Transitions to Democracy. What We Know and What We Should Know*, SOG Working Papers 15, April 2014.

WP #16 - Romano FERRARI ZUMBINI, *Overcoming overlappings (in altre parole...oltre 'questa' Europa)*, SOG Working Papers 16, April 2014.

WP #17 - Leonardo MORLINO, *How to assess democracy in Latin America?*, SOG Working Papers 17, April 2014.

WP #18 - Nicola LUPO & Giovanni PICCIRILLI, Some effects of European Courts on national sources of law: the evolutions of legality in the Italian legal order, SOG Working Papers 18, May 2014.

WP #19 – Cristina FASONE, National Parliaments under "external" fiscal constraints. The case of Italy, Portugal, and Spain facing the Eurozone crisis, SOG Working Papers 19, June 2014.

WP #20 - Elena GRIGLIO & Nicola LUPO, *Towards an asymmetric European Union, without an asymmetric European Parliament*, SOG Working Papers 20, June 2014.

WP #21 - Ian COOPER, Parliamentary oversight of the EU after the crisis: on the creation of the "Article 13" interparliamentary conference, SOG Working Papers 21, August 2014.

WP #22 – Anne PINTZ, National Parliaments overcoming collective action problems inherent in the early warning mechanism: the cases of Monti II and EPPO, SOG Working Papers 22, October 2014.

WP #23 – Valentina Rita SCOTTI, *Religious freedom in Turkey: foreign models and national identity*, SOG Working Papers 23, January 2015.

WP #24 – Davide A. CAPUANO, *Overcoming overlappings in the European Union (entia non sunt multiplicanda praeter necessitatem ...)*, SOG Working Papers 24, February 2015.

WP #25 – Francesco ALICINO, *The road to equality. Same-sex relationships within the european context: the case of Italy*, SOG Working Papers, July 2015.

WP #26 – Maria ROMANIELLO, Assessing upper chambers' role in the EU decision-making process, SOG Working Papers 26, August 2015.

WP #27 – Ugljesa ZVEKIC, Giorgio SIRTORI, Alessandro SABBINI and Alessandro DOWLING, *United Nations against corruption in post-conflict societies*, SOG Working Papers 27, September 2015

WP #28 – Matteo BONELLI, *Safeguarding values in the European Union: the European Parliament, article 7 and Hungary*, SOG Working Papers 28, October 2015

WP #29 - Ludovica BENEDIZIONE & Valentina Rita SCOTTI, *Equally victims? Postrevolutionary Tunisia and transitional justice*, SOG Working Papers 29, November 2015.

WP #30 - Marie-Cécile CADILHAC, *The TTIP negotiation process: a turning point in the understanding of the European parliament's role in the procedure for concluding EU external agreements?*, SOG Working Papers 30, December 2015.

WP #31 - Francesca BIONDI & Irene PELLIZZONE, *Open or secret? Parliamentary rules of procedures in secret ballots*, SOG Working Papers 31, December 2015.

WP #32 - Giulio STOLFI, *Tempi (post-)moderni: nuovi impulsi normativi europei alla prova delle sovrapposizioni*, SOG Working Papers 32, January 2016.

WP #33 - Diane FROMAGE, Regional Parliaments and the early warning system: an assessment

six years after the entry into force of the Lisbon treaty, SOG Working Papers 33, April 2016. WP #34 – Luca DI DONATO, "A behavioral principal-agent theory to study corruption and tax evasion, SOG Working Papers 34, July 2016.

WP #35 – Giuseppe PROVENZANO, "*The external policies of the EU towards the southern neighbourhood: time for restarting or sliding into irrelevance?*", SPG Workin Papers 35, September 2016.

